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IMPORTANT NOTICE:

Forward Looking Statements and Business Risks:

Silex is a research and development company 
whose assets are its proprietary rights in technologies, 
including, but not limited to, the SILEX technology and 
business, the Silex Solar technology and business, 
Translucent technology and ChronoLogic technology. 
In general, the Company’s technologies are in the 
development stage and have not been commercially 
deployed, and therefore are high risk. Accordingly, the 
statements in this report regarding the future of the 
Company’s technologies and commercial prospects are 
forward looking and actual results could be materially 
different from those expressed or implied by such 
forward looking statements as a result of various risk 
factors. Some risk factors that could affect future 
results and commercial prospects include, but are 
not limited to, results from the uranium enrichment 
development program and the stable isotopes program, 
the demand for enriched materials including uranium, 
silicon, oxygen, carbon and others, the business 
risks associated with Silex Solar’s manufacturing and 
marketing activities, the outcomes of the Company’s 
interests in the development of various semiconductor, 
photonic and alternative energy technologies, the time 
taken to develop various technologies, the development 
of competitive technologies, the potential for third party 
claims against the Company’s ownership of Intellectual 
Property associated with its numerous technologies, 
the potential impact of government regulations or 
policies, and the outcomes of various commercialisation 
strategies undertaken by the Company.
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Dr Michael Goldsworthy 
CEO and Managing Director

1. the Year in review

The twelve month period since our last annual  
report has been a very exciting time for Silex Systems, 
with two key milestone achievements:

(i)  Commencement of Test Loop operations for  
the SILEX Laser Enrichment technology, and;

(ii)  Acquisition of the Sydney Olympic Park (SOP) 
solar manufacturing facility, bringing forward the 
company’s initial commercial solar operations.

Both of these activities are potentially company defining 
in terms of providing the basis of short to medium term 
value, as well as establishing the long term security  
of the company.

These key events have occurred during a period of 
great economic instability as the effects of the global 
financial crisis unfolded, with commensurate falls in 
equity markets around the world. It is therefore very 
pleasing that the company’s share price has recovered 
strongly during the period in review, reflecting the 
market’s rising confidence in the company’s ability 
to realise significant value in its exciting technology 
portfolio. As signs of economic recovery begin to 
emerge, Silex believes it is well placed to capitalise on 
the merging priorities of the world’s growing demand 
for energy security and the need to shift to carbon-free 
energy technologies such as nuclear and solar.

Silex Systems today remains in a very strong financial 
position, with approximately $57 million in cash 
reserves and negligible liabilities. The estimated cash 
burn for technology development activities (Translucent 
and ChronoLogic) during the 09/10 financial year 
is around $6 million, meaning the company has 
adequate resources to take these activities through to 
their conclusion. Moreover, the company expects its 
commercial solar operations at the SOP plant will be 
cash flow positive by the end of calendar 2010.

For the year ended 30 June 2009, the Company has 
reported a net loss after tax of approximately $3.8 
million. The main contributions to this result include 
the Silex Operating Profit (approximately $4.0 million), 
Translucent’s Operating Loss (approximately $5.6 
million), ChronoLogic’s Operating Loss (approximately 
$1.8 million) and Silex Solar’s Operating Loss 

Ceo’s 
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Silex Systems 
today remains 
in a very strong 
financial position, 
with approximately 
$57 million in 
cash reserves and 
negligible liabilities 

(approximately $0.4 million). The Silex Operating Profit 
was largely due to a $2.8 million net foreign exchange 
gain. The exchange gain, mostly unrealised, was due 
to a weakening of the Australian dollar against the 
Company’s US dollar holdings during the period. The 
loss in each subsidiary is related to costs associated 
with the development of the Company’s technologies 
and is in line with management’s expectations. 

2.  overview of aCtivities

(i) Commercial Activities:

Silex is preparing to launch commercial  
activities in two of its subsidiaries:

•	 	Silex	Solar	Pty	Ltd (100% ownership) – 
manufacturing and sales of solar cells and panels 
will commence in the first quarter of 2010 calendar 
year, providing the product qualification process 
currently underway is successfully completed (refer 
to detail below). The intention is to produce solar 
panels for sale in the domestic residential and 
commercial solar market, and to produce solar 
cells for export into growing markets in Europe, 
North America and Asia. In parallel with this, Silex 
Solar will continue to improve its silicon-based 
solar technology through materials and process 
innovation. Furthermore, it is hoped that the 
materials being developed by Translucent (refer 
below) will be able to be applied to the company’s 
solar cell products at a future date.

•	 	ChronoLogic	Pty	Ltd	(90% ownership) – 
manufacturing, marketing and sales of electronic 
instrumentation products will commence as  
soon as some confidence returns to the  
relevant instrumentation markets, which have 
undergone significant contraction during the  
current economic recession. It is expected that  
this will occur sometime in 2010. In the mean  
time, ChronoLogic continues to add new products 
to its product range. 
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3. the silex UraniUm 

 enriChment projeCt

3.1 the positive outlook for nuclear power

The outlook for nuclear power around the world 
continues to gain strength as a consequence of  
two major socio-economic issues:

•	 the	ever-growing	need	to	address 
 global climate change;

•	 international	focus	on	achieving	greater	energy		
 independence and security.

Many governments and organisations around the world 
consider nuclear power as one of the most significant 
means of reducing our reliance on fossil fuels and 
limiting greenhouse gas emissions, while enabling 
access to abundant and affordable electricity. The 
inevitability of increased uptake of nuclear power over 
the coming years will give rise to increasing demand 
for nuclear fuel services, including uranium enrichment. 
World Nuclear Association data (2007 Nuclear Fuel 
Market Report) indicates steadily increasing demand 
for enriched uranium in the short term and accelerating 
demand in the medium to long term. Additionally, a 
unique situation exists in the enrichment industry on 
the supply side, whereby approximately 40% of the 
current supply base may not be available beyond 2013. 
Even with the construction of planned new centrifuge 
capacity, there could be a significant enrichment 
supply deficit in the 2015 time-frame and beyond. This 
represents a potential window of opportunity for the 
timely deployment of SILEX Enrichment Technology, 
which is currently the only third generation laser based 
enrichment process under development in the world. 

(ii)	Research	and	Development	Activities:

Silex is an advanced technology Group developing  
novel materials and process technologies for 
application to two key industries:

	 The	Alternative	Energy	Sector	  
 (Uranium Enrichment, Solar Energy)

	 The	Photonics	&	Semiconductor	Sector 
 (Silicon Photonics, Advanced Semiconductor   
 Materials)

Advanced materials are proving to be of pivotal 
importance in both the Alternative Energy and 
Semiconductor/Photonics industries. Future progress 
with these technologies is fundamentally dependent 
on materials innovation. We believe the technology 
initiatives currently underway at Silex and Translucent 
have the potential to satisfy several key requirements  
of such materials.

In addition to these advanced materials, Silex 
subsidiary ChronoLogic Pty Ltd is developing state-of-
the-art electronic equipment incorporating its patented 
USB-inSync technology, which has reached the 
commercialisation phase, as noted above.

The Company’s R&D activities currently focus on the 
following projects:

•	 The	SILEX	Uranium	Enrichment	Project

•	 Translucent	High	Efficiency	Solar	Cells

•	 Translucent	Silicon	Photonics

•	 ChronoLogic	Electronic	Equipment

These and other activities are reviewed below.
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the Wilmington site. The NRC’s estimated 30-month 
application review process officially began on August 
17 when the agency announced it had formally 
accepted the GLE application (refer US NRC News 
Releases website). The test loop facility received a 
separate NRC operating license approval in May 2008.

The test loop facility is designed to demonstrate 
the commercial feasibility of the technology and is 
intended to advance the design of the equipment and 
processes for the proposed commercial production 
facility. The program involves designing components of 
the commercial production facility and ascertaining the 
specifications and range of operating parameters for 
the equipment to be used in production.

GLE intends to use information from the Test Loop 
to make a decision in late 2009 on whether to 
proceed with construction of the full-scale commercial 
production facility. If the decision is made to proceed 
with construction, the GLE commercial production 
facility would have a target capacity of 3.5 to 6 million 
Separative Work Units (SWUs). A SWU is a unit 
measuring the energy used to enrich uranium,  
which is then fabricated into fuel assemblies for  
nuclear power plants.

3.2	 	Test	Loop	Project	Update

In 2006, Silex signed an agreement with GE to develop 
and commercialise the SILEX Process, the world’s 
only third generation laser based technology, to enrich 
uranium for fuel used in Nuclear Power Plants. Global 
demand for enriched uranium is expected to increase 
significantly in the next several decades, with the 
anticipated construction of a new generation of nuclear 
power plants to help meet the worlds converging 
needs to achieve energy supply security and address 
climate change.

The SILEX Laser Uranium Enrichment Project was 
relocated	to	GE	Hitachi	Nuclear	Energy’s	headquarters	
in Wilmington, North Carolina during 2007. Global 
Laser Enrichment (GLE), a business venture of GE 
(51%),	Hitachi	Ltd.	(25%)	and	Cameco	(24%),	is	
currently undertaking a ‘Test Loop’ Program, the 
key pre-commercialisation demonstration of the 
technology. GLE will use the Test Loop results in 
determining whether to commercialise laser-based 
enrichment technology in the first such full-scale 
commercial production facility in the world.

In July (refer ASX release 31/07/09) Silex and GLE 
announced the commencement of Test Loop 
operations to undertake a full evaluation of the SILEX 
enrichment technology. GLE reported in its disclosure 
that they were very encouraged with the results 
obtained to date. Test Loop operations will continue  
for the remainder of the current calendar year.

The start-up of the Test-Loop came less than a month 
after GLE announced it had submitted its license 
application to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
(NRC) to build the full-scale commercial facility on 

The outlook for 
nuclear power around 
the world continues 
to gain strength
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product qualification activities, a mandatory process 
which is expected to be completed in early 2010. 
A core team of 17 engineers and technicians each 
with many years experience at the SOP plant has been 
assembled to undertake this effort. The team will be 
added to on a needs-be basis, and will include sales 
and marketing expertise. If all goes to plan, Silex Solar 
will aim to generate its first sales in Q1 2010 CY.

Initially Silex Solar will produce cells and modules 
using an optimised form of conventional mono-
silicon processing with a conversion efficiency of 
approximately 17%. To further reduce the cost  
of solar electricity, Silex Solar has a clear plan to 
increase the conversion efficiency of its solar cells 
by implementing advanced processing technology. 
Ultimately, it is hoped that Translucent’s novel  
materials will provide a more significant performance 
and economic advantage. 

The SOP Plant is the largest solar manufacturing 
facility	in	the	Southern	Hemisphere,	with	over	50MW	of	
solar cell production and 10MW of module production 
annually under previous operations. It is estimated 
that the future capacity of the plant could potentially 
be expanded to 200MW, and possibly more with 
improvements in solar cell efficiencies. Initially the plant 
will operate at a much reduced capacity of 10MW ~ 
15MW in 2010CY, ramping up to full capacity by 2012 
to 2015CY, depending on market demand.

4. silex solar ptY ltD 

On June 29 (refer ASX release 29/06/09) Silex 
announced the completion of the acquisition of all the 
manufacturing assets and equipment of the Sydney 
Olympic Park (SOP) Solar manufacturing facility. This 
followed the signing of an Equipment Sales Agreement 
between wholly owned subsidiary Silex Solar Pty Ltd 
and BP Solar Pty Ltd, and the payment of $6.5 million. 
In a separate arrangement, Silex also completed a 
Lease Agreement for the building which houses the 
SOP Plant meaning that the manufacturing facility 
including infrastructure and services were secured 
relatively intact. Silex anticipates that the new solar  
cell manufacturing operations will involve a progressive 
roll-out of advanced technology and innovations, 
potentially including novel materials being developed  
by Silex’s Silicon Valley subsidiary Translucent Inc.

This exciting opportunity allows Silex to accelerate the 
start-up of its commercial solar business in a relatively 
short time, with initial sales targeted to commence in 
Q1 2010. The company will maintain a parallel focus 
on developing and implementing advanced solar 
technology aimed at significantly increasing solar 
conversion efficiency, and lowering the cost per watt  
of electricity produced.

The time to market for solar panels produced at the 
SOP Plant, regardless of cell technology, is dictated by 
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5.1	 	Advanced	Materials	for	 
High	Efficiency	Solar	Cells

State of the art commercial silicon solar cells are limited 
by their ‘single junction’ nature to around 20 to 22% 
efficiency primarily due to large portions of infrared 
sunlight passing through the cells, as well as ultraviolet 
sunlight being wasted as heat. Translucent’s REO 
materials, when incorporated as an ‘add-on’ layer to 
a silicon solar cell, have the potential to absorb some 
of the unused sunlight and enable it to be converted 
to electrical output in addition to that produced by 
the conventional silicon solar cell, potentially breaking 
through the ‘single junction’ limit.

Translucent’s novel approach to increase the efficiency 
of conventional silicon solar cell is to add some thin-
film layers of the company’s patented REO materials 
which are in the process of being optimised (in terms 
of constituents and thickness) to absorb a different 
segment of the unused parts of the solar spectrum 
(both infrared and ultraviolet segments). These 
new solar materials, which were spawned out of 
Translucent’s photonics materials project, have not 
previously been considered for application to solar 
energy conversion. 

During the review period, the Translucent team has 
made significant progress in incorporating REO thin 
films into test solar cells. As reported in previous 
updates, the electrical performance of these thin 
films was not acceptable, and a majority of the effort 
over the year in review was focused on resolving 
these issues. Whilst major improvements have been 
achieved, there is still a significant amount of work to 
complete before the full potential of these materials  
can be determined. 

While most of the prior effort was focused on 
harvesting unused parts of the infrared spectrum, 
more recent activities have also resulted in new 
blends of REO materials targeted at absorption of 
the unused ultraviolet portion of the spectrum. This 
work will continue for some months, with continued 
support from the solar cell characterisation group at 
Herriot	Watt	University	in	Scotland.	Testing	at	the	US	
National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL) in the US has 
been suspended until development of the REO solar 
materials has reached a more advanced stage.

5. translUCent inC projeCts

Translucent Inc, a US subsidiary (81% ownership) 
based in Palo Alto, California, has been developing 
advanced semiconductor materials called ‘Rare-
Earth Oxides’ (REO’s) for several years. These unique 
materials were originally developed for application in 
the photonics and silicon chip industries, but in recent 
years, their potential application to high efficiency solar 
conversion cells has also been explored. Significant 
progress has been achieved in all these applications, 
although to date no commercial outcomes have yet 
eventuated. Silex believes that this situation may soon 
change, with some projects nearing key milestone 
activities, albeit a little later than anticipated. Each of 
these project activities is reviewed below.
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(i)	 Silicon-on-Insulator	(SOI)	Wafer	Development:	
Progress in the development of a one wafer/ one step 
template for SOI based Micro Electro-Mechanical 
Systems (MEMS) has continued in conjunction with 
a third party that would potentially become the end-
user. A new low strain material has been developed 
and the SOI material grown in house exhibited a much 
improved quality. A batch of wafers is currently with 
our foundry partner being evaluated through their 
manufacturing process. These same wafers are also 
being looked at as possible source wafers for thin-SOI 
and strained silicon on insulator applications used in 
the wider semiconductor industry. 

(ii)	 Infrared	(IR)	Sensing: As demonstrated from the 
solar work rare earth oxides can extend the spectral 
range of silicon into the infra red. Current IR imaging 
technology is based on very expensive small scale 
compound semiconductors that must be hybridised 
with a silicon detector. Predominantly defense 
applications drive this technology because of the 
high cost involved. Translucent’s approach, which in 
principle is scalable and monolithically integrated with 
silicon, could allow new cost sensitive markets to be 
accessed (eg medical and industrial). During the next 
six months the company’s material platform will be 
extended to include combinations of REO’s that will 
enable silicon devices to access these wavelengths 
of commercial interest directly. This work is being 
conducted in conjunction with another third party/
potential end-user.

5.4	 Intellectual	Property

Translucent’s IP portfolio has been strengthened by 
the addition of three additional patents granted by 
the US Patent and Trademark Office. Translucent’s IP 
portfolio covers solar photovoltaics, microelectronics, 
LEDs (light emitting diodes) and photonics now 
totals 24 issued patents, with approximately 28 more 
applications in the system. 

5.2	 	Photonics	Project

The photonics project has now been split into 
2 streams: i) the original telecoms wavelengths work 
that included the recently concluded collaborative effort 
with Caltech – this work has been put on temporary 
hold whilst resources are devoted to a newer area 
of work; ii) a second effort focused on REO-silicon 
compatible photonics for visible wavelengths. The 
major market focus for the newer REO-silicon based 
photonics materials could include visible LEDs and 
optical interconnects for ‘super chips’. Unlike the 
original Caltech work that was based on optically 
pumped devices, this new photonics project will 
endeavor to engineer a solution for electrically driven 
devices, making incorporation into LED’s and/or chip 
interconnects much more practical. A new round of 
wafer processing is underway to evaluate the potential 
of these materials, with results expected before the 
next major update in the first quarter of 2010.

5.3	 Advanced	Electronic	Materials

Work on AEM’s has been re-kindled over the past 
six months with two new enquiries from third party 
commercial organisations involving potential application 
of Translucent’s REO materials to specific applications:
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6. ChronoloGiC ptY ltD 

ChronoLogic is an Adelaide-based subsidiary 
(90% owned by Silex) developing novel electronics 
equipment for the Test and Measurement (T&M) 
instrumentation market, incorporating its proprietary 
USB-inSync™ technology. In essence, ChronoLogic’s 
USB-inSync™ technology transforms the ubiquitous 
USB connection from a simple consumer connectivity 
bus to an instrumentation grade interface with class-
leading synchronisation capabilities. 

ChronoLogic has products serving Data Acquisition 
(DAQ) markets, Precision Timing markets and Cross-
Platform Synchronisation of laboratory instruments. 
A new range of laboratory instrumentation, known 
as Distributed Virtual Instrumentation (DVI), will 
be released to market later this year, offering 
unprecedented flexibility and control for engineers  
and scientists.

The Company recently announced that ChronoLogic 
has secured a seminal patent granted by the United 
States Patent Office for its core USB-inSync™ 
technology. This follows closely on the heels of the 
granting of the equivalent patent by the European 
Patent Office. These Patents underpin ChronoLogic’s 
technology roadmap and secure a broad ownership 
position within instrumentation markets. ChronoLogic 
has a further five patent applications filed and pending, 
each of which is likely to spawn multiple patents.

As per previous disclosures, a marketing campaign 
was shelved by ChronoLogic in late 2008 as the 
global financial crisis unfolded. With instrumentation 
markets suffering a significant downturn, ChronoLogic 
feared any marketing expenditure would be wasted 
in such a negative environment. The company has 
used this opportunity to review its commercialisation 
strategy and to advance its second generation 
product development activities. ChronoLogic plans 
to commence further marketing activities once the 
instrumentation markets show signs of recovery.

  
Dr Michael Goldsworthy 
CEO and Managing Director 

25 September 2009
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Approximately 90% 
of today’s solar cell 
production is based on 
first-generation crystalline 
silicon (wafer) solar 
technology.

9
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1. Mission
To become a world leader in advanced technology 
solutions in key strategic markets, including the 
nuclear industry, the solar energy industry and  
the semiconductor / photonics industry.

CompanY 
overview

2.	Historical	background
1988  Silex Systems Limited (Silex) was established by founder Dr Michael Goldsworthy as a research subsidiary   

of Sonic Healthcare Limited, an Australian Publicly listed company.

 
1990  Silex began researching the isotope separation ideas of the co-inventors Dr Michael Goldsworthy and Dr Horst 

Struve.

 
1992 The unique principles of the SILEX (Separation of Isotopes by Laser EXcitation) Process were established.

 
1994  ‘Proof of Principle’ demonstration of the SILEX Process was achieved at the Company’s laboratories at Lucas 

Heights, south of Sydney. SILEX is in principle a generic or core technology, and has a number of potential 
applications. The largest existing market – Uranium Enrichment (US$6 billion per annum) became the primary 
focus of the Company.

 
1996  Silex was divested from Sonic and immediately set out to form an alliance with a participant in the uranium 

enrichment industry. An agreement for the development and licensing of SILEX Technology (exclusively for 
uranium), was signed with the United States Enrichment Corporation (USEC, Inc) with an upfront payment of  
US$7 million.

 
1998 Silex listed on the Australian Stock Exchange on 7 May 1998.

 
1999  An Agreement for Cooperation between the United States and Australian Governments was signed paving the 

way for continued development of the SILEX Technology for uranium enrichment, and facilitating its future transfer 
to the US. 

 
2000  The first milestone of the uranium enrichment program was successfully achieved, triggering a milestone payment  

of US$5 million from USEC.

 
  The Stable Isotopes Program was launched to investigate the development of the SILEX Technology for 

application to silicon, oxygen and carbon enrichment.

 
  Silex won the 2000 Australian Technology Award for Excellence in the Manufacturing and Engineering sector.

 
  Silex secured a START Grant from the Australian Government to fund 50% of the SILEX Stable Isotope Program.

 
 Silex raised $36 million to assist in funding the development of the Company’s technology portfolio. 
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2001  Silex moved further into the semiconductor technology field with the acquisition of a 30% interest in Translucent 
Inc, a Silicon Valley start-up developing silicon photonics technology for the photonics/optical communications 
industry.

 
  The SILEX Technology was officially “Classified” by the US and Australian Governments. The implications of 

classification relate mainly to security protocols.

 
2002  Silex acquired a controlling interest in ChronoLogic Pty Ltd, Adelaide-based start-up developing novel technology  

for the electronics and instrumentation industries. 

 
  The SILEX Uranium Enrichment Project achieved a key milestone with the first full demonstration of practical 

uranium enrichment using the SILEX ‘Direct Measurement Facility’.

 
  Silex signed a Collaboration Agreement with Sumitomo Mitsubishi Silicon Corporation (SUMCO), the world’s 

second largest silicon wafer manufacturer, to test enriched silicon wafers for semiconductor applications.

 
2003 USEC announced its withdrawal from the uranium project after funding it for 6 years. 

 
  Silex took a majority ownership in Translucent Inc, moving to ~70% interest (from 30%). Also increases its stake  

in ChronoLogic to 85% (from 51%).

 
  The SILEX silicon project achieved a key demonstration milestone, with enrichment of silicon-28 to 99.9%  

(from ~92% natural assay).

 
 Translucent achieves key milestone with demonstration of optical activity in silicon.

 
2004 Translucent secured its first US Patent for the ‘optical silicon’ invention.

 
 Silex commissioned the world’s first silicon laser enrichment pilot plant.

 
  Translucent pursues patents for ‘spin-off’ technologies: Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) and dielectric substrates,  

with potential applications to the silicon chip industry. 

 
2005  Translucent wins a US Defence Department DARPA Grant to help develop the ‘optical silicon’ technology,  

under DARPA’s Electronics and Photonics Integrated Circuits (EPIC) Program.

   
Results of enriched silicon wafer tests conducted by SUMCO show modest improvements in overall 
semiconductor device performance, resulting in the project being shelved subject to further advances in chip 
technology.

  
  Subsidiary ChronoLogic wins a Federal Government “Commercial Ready Grant” for its novel ‘USB-inSync™’  

Data Acquisition Technology ($1.2M over three years).

 
  Silex announced the successful completion of its Uranium Enrichment Technology Evaluation project, the results 

indicating attractive economics. Due Diligence reviews by several potential commercial partners commence later  
in the year after US Government approval delays. 
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  Translucent achieved a key milestone in its project to develop a silicon-based photonics material – the demonstration 
of ‘electroluminescence’ at room temperature – an important step in the quest to develop a silicon laser and optical 
interconnects.

 
2006  Silex and the General Electric Company sign an exclusive Commercialisation and License Agreement for the 

SILEX Uranium Enrichment Technology in May, with US Government authorisations received in October.

 
  Translucent files two provisional patents for the development of its advanced materials in Alternative Energy 

applications: high efficiency solar cells and thermoelectric energy conversion.

 
2007  The transfer of the SILEX Uranium Enrichment project to GE’s Wilmington, North Carolina nuclear fuel plant was 

completed in the first half of 2007. This included equipment used in prior work, to be re-deployed in the Test Loop 
Program, and a team of 12 key Silex staff who joined the GE team in Wilmington.

 
  GE-Hitachi Signs Letters of Intent for uranium enrichment services and support using the SILEX Technology with 

Exelon and Entergy – the two largest nuclear power utilities in the US.

 
  Silex successfully completes a $50 million placement of new securities in October to professional and 

sophisticated shareholders. The placement closed heavily oversubscribed.

 
2008  Global Laser Enrichment (GLE), formed as a subsidiary of GE Hitachi Nuclear Energy (GEH) to commercialise the 

SILEX Technology, announced that it had selected its Wilmington, N.C., headquarters site for the first potential 
commercial SILEX uranium enrichment facility.

 
  GLE was notified that the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) approved a license amendment (to 

an existing nuclear facility license) to operate the Test Loop for the next generation SILEX laser enrichment 
technology.

 
  GE Hitachi Nuclear Energy (GEH) and Cameco Corp. (NYSE:CCJ) announced that Cameco Corporation, the 

world’s largest uranium producer, had joined GE and Hitachi as owners of their laser enrichment venture GLE. 
Cameco paid US$123.8 million for a 24% stake in GLE. GE retained 51% ownership, with Hitachi at 25%.

 
2009  GLE achieved a key licensing milestone with the early submission of an environmental report to the US NRC in 

February. This report comprises a major part of the full license application.

 
  Silex announced in June the acquisition of the Sydney Olympic Park (SOP) solar manufacturing facility, including 

the entire production equipment (purchased from BP Solar for $6.5 M) infrastructure and a lengthy building lease. 
The SOP plant is being re-started with production and initial sales targeted for first quarter in 2010.

 
  GLE submitted in June the full license application to the US NRC to build and operate a commercial SILEX 

uranium-enrichment facility in Wilmington N.C., the first to use laser technology. In August the NRC announced it 
had accepted the license application, triggering a ~30 months review process.

 
  Global Laser Enrichment (GLE) in July announced the on-schedule start-up of the Test Loop to evaluate the next-

generation SILEX uranium enrichment technology. This triggered a ~6 month period of testing which would then  
allow GLE to decide on whether to proceed with construction of the first commercial plant. 
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3. teChnoloGY 

 Development overview

4. the silex teChnoloGY 

 anD appliCations

The SILEX Technology is a unique laser-based process 
which has the potential to efficiently separate the 
isotopes of various elements. By separating isotopes, 
materials with a different isotopic composition to the 
naturally occurring element can be created. These 
‘new’ materials can exhibit unique properties and 
behavior, and provide added commercial value. In the 
case of uranium, the composition of the U-235 isotope 
is increased from 0.7% in its natural state to around 
5% in the enriched state. Enrichment is necessary for 
uranium to work effectively in the production of energy 
in nuclear power reactors. 

Whilst there are other less efficient mechanical 
methods of enriching materials, the laser-based SILEX 
Process has a number of advantages, including 
relatively low operating costs and significantly lower 
capital costs compared to centrifuge technology. SILEX 
Technology is currently the only third generation laser-
based enrichment technology under development 
today. Centrifuge, regarded as today’s benchmark,  
is a second generation ‘mechanical’ technology. 

The status of the uranium enrichment project being 
conducted by GLE has been detailed in the CEO’s 
Report. Background information to the enrichment 
industry and the GLE Commercialisation agreement  
is provided below.

The application of the company’s laser isotope 
technology to stable isotopes, in particular silicon  
(for improved semiconductor wafer performance)  
and medical isotopes (namely Oxygen and Carbon)  
has	been	investigated	over	the	years.	However	the	
results of this research coupled with unattractive 
market conditions resulted in the indefinite suspension 
of the stable isotope program. 

Summary	of	Technologies	under	Development:

Two unique advanced technologies:

1.	 Laser	Enrichment	Technology	 
 (SILEX Process)

2.		‘Rare	Earth	Oxide’	Materials	 
 (Translucent Technology)

Applied to two Industry Sectors

1.			Alternative	Energy (Uranium Enrichment,  
Solar Energy, Thermoelectric Power)

2.	 	Photonics	/	Semiconductors (Optical Silicon, 
Dielectric/Insulating wafer substrates)
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4.1	 Uranium	Enrichment	–	 
	 the	Nuclear	Power	Industry:

Historically,	the	Company’s	primary	focus	has	been	
on the Uranium Enrichment application of the SILEX 
Technology. Uranium Enrichment is the key step in 
the production of fuel for nuclear power reactors. 
The global Nuclear Power industry currently provides 
approximately 16% of the world’s electricity. The 
Uranium Enrichment market is currently worth in 
excess of US$6 billion per annum. These figures 
are likely to increase with continuing economic 
development in Asia and the growing environmental 
problems associated with the use of fossil fuels, 
in particular global climate change caused by the 
emission of greenhouse gases. The Nuclear Power 
industry is currently experiencing a world-wide 
resurgence in popular and governmental support 
because of these environmental concerns and 
increasing energy security issues. Nuclear power is the 
only large scale, cost effective base-load power source 
which is relatively free of greenhouse gas emissions.

Enrichment is a technically difficult process, which 
constitutes a major component of nuclear fuel costs 
(approximately 30% to 40%). Enrichment involves 
increasing the concentration of the ‘active’ U-235 
isotope from 0.7% in natural uranium to approximately 
5%. The work required to perform enrichment is 
measured in Separative Work Units (SWUs).

In order to facilitate the potential commercial 
deployment of SILEX Uranium Enrichment technology 
in the USA, an Agreement for Cooperation between 
the United States and Australia relating to the SILEX 
Technology was implemented and came into force 
in May 2000. In June 2001, the SILEX Technology 
was officially Classified by the US and Australian 
Governments, bringing the project formally under  
the security and regulatory protocols of each country. 
These regulatory arrangements are necessary to 
ensure an efficient technology transfer process  
whilst maintaining the strictest security safeguards  
over the Technology.
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4.2	The	Key	Terms	of	the	SILEX-GE	Agreement:

In May 2006, Silex and the General Electric Company (GE) signed a Commercialisation and License Agreement 
for the SILEX Uranium Enrichment Technology. Under the Agreement, the SILEX Technology (the world’s only third 
generation laser-based enrichment process) has been exclusively licensed to GE for commercial deployment by GLE. 

(i)	 SILEX	Technology	Development	Program	

Silex and GE have agreed to the following development 
activities, which GE will fund subject to the continued 
success of the SILEX Technology program:

Test	Loop 
This program aims to test the efficiency of engineering-
scale SILEX equipment, and is expected to be 
completed by the end of 2009.

lead Cascade 
This program will involve the construction and 
operation of the first small production plant after 
successful completion of the Test Loop.

If the Lead Cascade confirms the efficiency and 
reliability expected of the SILEX Technology, then  
GE may continue with the deployment of commercial 
SILEX enrichment plants.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(ii)	 Payments

In addition to funding the technology development 
program GE will make the following payments to Silex:

•	 	US$5	million	after	receipt	of	preliminary	U.S.	
Government approval (payment was made in  
June 06).

•	 	US$15	million	on	receipt	of	final	Government	
approval (payment was made in October 06).

•	 	US$15	million	upon	successful	completion	of	the	
Test Loop program and Lead Cascade Licence.

•	 	US$20	million	upon	successful	completion	of	the	
Lead Cascade program.

(iii)  Royalty

Upon deployment of commercial SILEX uranium 
enrichment plants, and for as long as the SILEX 
Technology is used, Silex will receive:

•	 	A	base	royalty	of	7%	of	revenues	generated	from	
enrichment services using the SILEX Technology.

•	 	An	additional	royalty	of	up	to	5%	(taking	the	total	
Royalty to a maximum of 12%) based on the 
total cost of deployment. The lower the cost of 
deployment, the higher the royalty.
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5. translUCent photoniCs anD

 semiConDUCtor teChnoloGies

5.1	 Silicon	Photonics:

In April 2001, Silex invested in US-based 
semiconductor start-up Translucent Inc. to support  
the development of an invention in the field of  
photonic semiconductor technology known as  
Planar Lightwave Circuits (PLCs). The invention  
is based on a unique set of patented crystalline 
materials known as ‘Rare Earth Oxides’ (REO’s).  
Initial funding involved a 30% interest in Translucent, 
and a second funding round in late 2003 saw Silex 
move to a 70% fully diluted majority interest. In May 
2008 Silex announced a transaction with the founders 
of Translucent which took the Company’s interest  
to 81%, with a structure to go to 100% ownership  
on the satisfaction of various milestones.

The Translucent REO materials have significant 
commercial potential because they aim to push 
low-cost silicon into the photonics arena (optical 
interconnects and communications technology)  
for the first time, delivering significant cost and 
performance benefits. Translucent achieved the  
first key technical milestone in November 2003  
with the successful demonstration of optical activity  
in silicon, and the second milestone in November  
2005 with the demonstration of ‘electroluminescence’ 
in silicon at room temperature. The current status  
of Translucent’s project activities have been discussed 
in the CEO’s report. 

5.2		 	Insulating	and	Infrared-detecting	
Semiconductor	Materials:

In 2004 Translucent disclosed a ‘spin-off’ technology 
which evolved directly from the same class of  
silicon-based REO materials being developed for  
the photonics industry. These materials, initially 
described as ‘Advanced Electronic Materials’ (AEM’s), 
include Silicon-on-Insulator (SOI) wafer substrates 
and more recently infrared (IR) detector materials. 
Work on these two material applications continues 
in conjunction with third party interests which could 
become commercial end-users of such materials if 
successfully demonstrated. The progress in these 
projects has been detailed in the CEO’s report. 

In May 2008 Silex 
announced a transaction 
with the founders of 
Translucent which took  
the Company’s interest to 
81%, with a structure  
to go to 100% ownership  
on the satisfaction of 
various milestones.
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6. translUCent solar enerGY

 anD thermoeleCtriC power 

 teChnoloGies

6.1	 	High	Efficiency	Solar	Energy	Cells:

For several decades, solar energy has been a highly 
favoured technology for environmentally clean 
renewable	energy	production.	However,	despite	
massive development efforts and billions of dollars 
investment, solar energy remains relatively expensive 
and heavily dependent on government subsidies or 
incentives. The key limiting factors in the development 
of solar energy technology are the performance of  
the photovoltaic conversion materials and the overall 
costs of production.

Approximately 90% of today’s solar cell production 
is based on first-generation crystalline silicon (wafer) 
technology, with commercial solar conversion 
efficiencies in the range of 15% to 22%. The remaining 
~10% of solar production is based on second-
generation thin film technologies which, whilst having 
lower production costs, have commercial conversion 
efficiencies typically in the range of only 5% to 10%. 
Today, cumulative solar energy production accounts 
for less than 0.01% of total Global Primary Energy 
demand. Despite these figures, the solar energy 
industry is undergoing rapid growth, driven primarily 
by Government sponsored programs. The solar 
(photovoltaics) market is currently valued at over 
US$10 billion p.a. and is expected to grow to $50 
billion p.a. by 2015.

Clearly innovation is required to enable solar energy 
to enter the mainstream energy markets without 
Government support. There appears to be two ways 
to achieve this: (i) efficiency increase through materials 
and processing innovation and (ii) scaling of production. 
We believe that the most effective means to improve 
the economics of solar technology is by achieving 
significant efficiency increases. (Production scaling 
can be applied in principle to any technology). In June 
2006, Silex subsidiary Translucent Inc filed a Patent 
application for an innovative solar cell technology 
that has evolved from the continued development 
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converted into electricity without any intermediate 
working fluid (steam or gas), and without any moving 
parts (turbines and rotating generators). Although  
direct thermoelectric power generation has been 
utilised on a limited scale in niche applications for  
many years (for example, in space probe power packs), 
large scale commercial development for alternative 
energy production has not been economically viable 
due to inherent limitations (low efficiencies and high 
costs) of conventional thermoelectric materials  
currently available. 

Translucent’s REO materials are being investigated 
for potential application to thermoelectric conversion 
to assess whether some of these limitations can be 
overcome. If scalable low cost thermoelectric materials 
can be developed, commercial implementation could 
be pursued through several different formats, including: 
i) the conversion of waste heat from car exhausts; 
ii) conversion of waste heat generated by boilers in 
coal, gas or nuclear power plants to increase total 
power output; and iii) application to geothermal heat 
resources for steam-less power generation. 

of its core ‘REO’ photonics materials. Translucent’s 
materials-based innovation has the potential to improve 
the prospects for solar energy deployment by achieving 
a meaningful increase in solar cell conversion efficiency. 
The manufacturing process is based on deposition 
of thin active-layer REO semiconductor films on 
silicon solar cells, thereby leveraging off the existing 
wafer-based technology which is expected to remain 
the dominant production means for the foreseeable 
future. Specifically, the proprietary thin active-layer 
semiconductor films can potentially be tailored to 
absorb and convert portions of the solar energy 
spectrum that conventional silicon solar cell technology 
can’t access, potentially providing significantly higher 
solar cell conversion efficiencies. As discussed in the 
CEO’s Report, Translucent is continuing to develop 
these novel materials for solar energy application.

 

6.2	 Thermoelectric	Power	Technology:

In July 2006, Translucent Inc submitted a Patent 
filing for the potential application of its REO materials 
to thermoelectric power conversion devices. 
This application, which is largely speculative at 
this time, evolved from the development of the 
core semiconductor materials discussed above. 
Thermoelectric power generation is a well-known 
effect through which thermal energy (heat) is directly 
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7.  ChronoloGiC ptY ltD

In September 2002, Silex acquired a 51% interest in 
ChronoLogic Pty Ltd, an Adelaide-based company 
developing novel electronics products for the Data 
Acquisition and Optical Communications industries, 
incorporating its patent-pending ‘USB-inSync’ 
technology. In 2005, Silex moved to a 90% interest 
in ChronoLogic as the result of a restructure in which 
the commercialisation strategy shifted in focus from 
the depressed Optical Communications market to 
the growing Data Acquisition and Instrumentation 
markets. The commercialisation of ChronoLogic’s 
technology has been assisted by a Federal 
Government “Commercial Ready Grant” ($1.2M over 
3 years), awarded in April 2005. The target markets 
for ChronoLogic’s initial range of products is the USB-
based segments of the Data Acquisition market and 
the Test And Measurement Instrumentation market. 

Virtually every consumer product we use today 
has been manufactured and tested in plants 
and laboratories using this type of equipment or 
instrumentation. Applications fall within the Test, 
Control and Automation areas, including the 
semiconductor, automotive and mining industries 
through to medical diagnostics and food processing.  
A large number of these applications require 
synchronous measurements and acquisition of  
data, and the ability to control processes and/or  
events with precise relative timing. 

Further information is found on the ChronoLogic website 
(www.chronologic.com.au).
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Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Silex Systems Limited (Silex or the 
Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during the year ended 30 June 2009.

1. DIRECTORS

The following persons were directors of Silex Systems Limited during the whole of the financial year and  
up to the date of this report:

Mr B S Patterson – Chairman 
Dr M P Goldsworthy – Managing Director 
Mr C D Wilks 
Dr C S Goldschmidt 
Mr R P Campbell

2. pRINCIpAL ACTIvITIES

During the year the principal continuing activity of the consolidated entity consisted of research and 
development of the laser isotope separation technology known as ‘SILEX’. Silex also has an 81.0% fully 
diluted interest in Translucent Inc, a California based company which is researching and developing novel  
solar energy conversion materials, and silicon based materials and manufacturing technology for application  
to both the optical communications and mainstream computer chip industries.

In addition to these activities, the controlled entity ChronoLogic Pty Ltd is developing data acquisition 
equipment utilising its proprietary USB-inSync technology. Silex has a 90% interest in ChronoLogic Pty Ltd 
(ChronoLogic). 

In late June 2009, 100% owned subsidiary Silex Solar Pty Ltd acquired solar cell and panel manufacturing 
assets from BP Solar Pty Ltd. This facility is located at Sydney Olympic Park. 

3. DIvIDEND

No dividend payments were made during the year. No dividend has been recommended or declared by the Board.

4. REvIEw OF OpERATIONS AND ACTIvITIES

trading results

A summary of consolidated revenue and results is set out below:

2009 2008

$ $

Revenue from ordinary activities 9,278,586 13,031,442

(Loss) before tax (3,744,212) (9,248,155)

Income tax expense (11,396) –

(Loss) after related income tax expense (3,755,608) (9,248,155)

Net loss attributable to minority interest – –

Net (loss) attributable to members of Silex Systems Limited (3,755,608) (9,248,155)
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Comments on the operations and the results of those operations are set out below:

Revenue for the current year includes recoverable project costs of $6,146,593 (2008: $9,624,501) and interest 
income $3,126,693 (2008: $3,223,552).

The decrease in revenue is largely due to reduced recoverable project costs on the uranium enrichment 
project. Costs on the Uranium Project, which are reimbursed, reduced in the current year. The prior year costs 
included significant amounts for materials for the building of the test loop. 

The loss for the current year was mainly due to the ongoing research and development costs associated 
with the Company’s various technology projects. These costs were partly offset by interest income and 
foreign exchange gains. The improved result is mainly due to net foreign exchange gains in the current 
year. Net foreign currency exchange gains were $2,755,897 in the current year compared to net foreign 
exchange losses of $1,804,697 in the prior year. The exchange gain, which is mostly unrealised, was due to 
a weakening of the Australian dollar against the Company’s US dollar holdings during the period. Income tax 
expense was $11,396 (2008: nil).

The Company’s cash reserves are invested in term deposits and bank bills and the remainder as cash or 
deposits at call with banks.

5. EARNINgS pER SHARE

2009 2008

cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (2.6) (6.5)

Diluted earnings per share (2.6) (6.5)

6. SIgNIFICANT CHANgES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

The significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the course of the year included 
the following:

•	 	During	the	year,	Silex	subsidiary	Silex	Solar	Pty	Ltd	acquired	the	solar	manufacturing	assets	at	Sydney	
Olympic Park from BP Solar Pty Ltd. 

7. MATTERS SUbSEqUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The directors are not aware of any matters or circumstances which are not otherwise dealt with in the  
financial statements that have significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, 
the results of its operations or the state of the consolidated entity in subsequent years.

8. LIkELY DEvELOpMENTS AND ExpECTED RESULTS OF OpERATIONS

Silex is a technology company with interests in a number of technology development projects both in Australia 
and overseas. Silex is also in the process of starting up its first manufacturing operation through subsidiary 
Silex Solar Pty Ltd at Sydney Olympic Park. The Company’s future prospects remain dependent on the 
outcomes of the solar manufacturing operations and on the various technology development programs, 
including the group’s success in ultimately commercialising those technologies.
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The Group’s technology development programs are summarised below: 

uranium enrichment program

Silex is developing a novel method of enriching uranium using lasers in collaboration with Global Laser 
Enrichment (GLE – the venture owned by GE, Hitachi and Cameco to commercialise the SILEX technology 
in the US). During the year, work continued on the Test Loop program which is the key pre-commercial 
demonstration of the technology. In late July 2009, GLE announced the start up of the Test Loop. GLE 
expects to have sufficient data from the test loop by the end of 2009 CY to decide whether to proceed with 
the construction of a commercial SILEX production plant in the USA. This decision, coupled with the granting 
of a commercial operating license from the US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, would trigger a milestone 
payment of US$15 million to Silex, likely to be in the 2012 timeframe. 

Stable Isotope program

Silex has been conducting a parallel Stable Isotope Program for several years with the aim of demonstrating 
cost-effective enrichment of stable isotopes such as silicon, carbon and oxygen. For example, enriched 
oxygen is used for medical (PET) imaging. The unique properties of these enriched materials and the costs 
and benefits of using them have yet to be fully determined. At this stage the Stable Isotope Program has  
been suspended due to unattractive cost/benefit factors and isotope market conditions.

translucent Inc

Silex has an 81% fully diluted interest in Translucent Inc, a California based company which is researching and 
developing high efficiency solar energy conversion materials, and silicon based materials and manufacturing 
technology for application to both the optical communications and mainstream computer chip industries. 

These technologies are still in the development phase. Future commercial prospects for the Translucent 
technology will depend on continued success with the technical program, third party validation of the 
technologies, sufficient protection of IP including Patents, and successful implementation of  
commercialisation strategies.

chronologic

Silex holds a 90% interest in ChronoLogic, an Adelaide based company with novel technology in the field of 
instrumentation for the test and measurement market, and data acquisition market. Chronologic is currently 
preparing to go to market with its first range of products, after suspending marketing efforts late in CY 2008 
due to the downturn triggered by the global financial crises. In the mean time, Chronologic continues to 
develop new products for its second product range, with the aim of marketing this range sometime in 
CY 2010 when market conditions permit.

Silex Solar

Since acquiring the manufacturing assets from BP Solar in late June 2009, worked has commenced  
on re-commissioning activities and production of product samples needed for industry qualification and 
certification later in the year. Silex Solar is aiming to generate its first sales in the first quarter of calendar  
2010 if all goes to plan. 
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9. SHARE OpTIONS

Shares under option

Unissued ordinary shares of Silex Systems Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

number of options
Issue price  

of shares Grant date expiry date

 121,500 $0.85 4th May 2005 3rd May 2010

 2,634,000 $3.60 22nd June 2006 21st June 2011

 100,000 $7.01 9th March 2007 8th March 2012

 250,000 $6.79 22nd August 2007 21st August 2012

 150,000 $5.81 24th December 2007 23rd December 2012

 190,000 $7.06 15th July 2008 14th July 2013

 145,000 $3.63 7th October 2008 6th October 2013

 50,000 $3.54 28th November 2008 27th November 2013

 50,000 $3.51 5th December 2008 4th December 2013

 50,000 $4.19 31st March 2009 30th March 2014

 500,000 $5.88 29th June 2009 28th June 2014

 4,240,500

No option holder has any right under the option to participate in any other share issue of the Company  
or of any other entity. Between balance sheet date and the date of this report no options were granted.

Shares issued on the exercise of options

The following ordinary shares of Silex Systems Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2009 on 
the exercise of options granted under the Silex Systems Limited Employee Share Option Plan. No amounts 
are unpaid on any of the shares.

date options granted
Issue price  

of shares
number of  

shares issued

9th September 2003 $0.65 165,000

11th November 2003 $0.65 10,000

3rd May 2004 $0.95 54,000

4th May 2005 $0.85 58,500

22nd November 2005 $1.77 40,000

22nd June 2006 $3.60 270,000

597,500

Between balance date and the date of this report, the following options were exercised resulting in the issue  
of 291,000 ordinary shares. These options have been excluded from the shares under option table above. 
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date options exercised
Issue price  

of shares
number of  

shares issued

17th July 2009 $0.85 10,000

17th July 2009 $3.60 35,000

13th August 2009 $3.60 60,000

13th August 2009 $1.77 25,000

31st August 2009 $3.60 76,000

31st August 2009 $3.60 20,000

14th September 2009 $3.60 65,000

291,000

10. REMUNERATION REpORT

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

A) Principles used to determine the nature and amounts of remuneration

B) Details of remuneration

C)  Share based compensation

D)  Additional information

The information provided in this report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

A) principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The objective of the Company’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is 
competitive. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation 
of value for shareholders, and conforms with market best practice for delivery of reward. The Board ensures 
that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

•	 competitiveness	and	reasonableness

•	 acceptability	to	shareholders

•	 transparency.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests:

•	 	focuses	on	sustained	growth	in	share	price	as	well	as	focusing	the	executive	on	key	non-financial	 
drivers of value

•	 attracts	and	retains	high	calibre	executives.

Alignment to program participants’ interest:

•	 rewards	capability	and	experience

•	 reflects	competitive	reward	for	contribution	to	shareholder	growth

•	 provides	recognition	for	contribution.
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The framework provides a blend of fixed pay and short and long-term incentives. The Board has established 
a remuneration committee which provides advice on remuneration and recommendations on remuneration 
packages for executive directors, other senior executives and non-executive directors.

Non-executive Directors
The current base remuneration was last reviewed with effect from 1 July 2006. Directors’ fees are currently 
$60,000 per director. Additional fees of $5,000 per annum are also payable from 1 July 2006 for membership 
on the audit committee and $5,000 per annum for the remuneration committee. Non-executive directors’ fees 
are determined within an aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically recommended for approval 
by shareholders. The maximum non-executive directors’ fees currently stands at $350,000 per annum and 
was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 1 December 2006.

Executive pay
The executive pay and reward framework has four components:

•	 base	pay	and	benefits

•	 short-term	performance	incentives

•	 long-term	incentives	via	the	issue	of	share	options,	and

•	 other	remuneration	such	as	superannuation.

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration.

Base pay
Executive salaries are structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a mix of 
cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. 
Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive’s pay is competitive with the 
market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion.

There are no guaranteed base pay increases fixed in any senior executives’ contracts, or arrangements.

Benefits
Executives receive benefits including car allowances.

Superannuation
Retirement benefits are delivered under the Silex Systems Limited Superannuation Fund or an alternative fund 
of the executive’s choice. These funds are accumulation funds.

Short-term incentives
At the discretion of the Board, if the Company achieves pre-determined targets set by the Board, then a pool 
of short-term incentive (STI) funds may be made available for executives and senior staff for allocation during 
the annual review, or other appropriate times. 

Long-term incentives
Silex Systems Limited Employee Option Plan

Executives are entitled to participate in the Silex Systems Limited Employee Share Option Plan.

B) details of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures) of Silex Systems Limited and the Silex Systems Limited Group are set out in the 
following tables. 
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 Key management personnel of Silex Systems limited and the Silex Group

2009
Short-term  

employee benefits 

post-
employment 

benefits

long  
term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

name

cash 
salary 

and fees
cash  

bonus

non-
monetary 

benefits Superannuation

long 
service 

leave options total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Executive directors       

Dr M P 
Goldsworthy 552,745  – 63,153 13,745 21,090  – 650,733

Mr C D Wilks 123,669  –  – 10,679  106  – 134,454

      

Non executive 
directors      

Dr C S Goldschmidt 65,000  – – 5,850  – – 70,850

Mr B S Patterson 70,000  – – 6,300  – – 76,300

Mr R P Campbell 70,000  – – 6,300  – – 76,300

      

Other key 
management 
personnel      

B J Spillane 123,611  – 14,625 10,998 5,440  – 154,674

Company Secretary 
and Financial 
Controller      

total 1,005,025  – 77,778 53,872 26,636  – 1,163,311
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2008
Short-term  

employee benefits

post-
employment 

benefits

long 
term 

benefits

Share-
based 

payments

name 

cash 
salary 

and fees
cash 

bonus

non – 
monetary 

benefits Superannuation

long 
service 

leave options total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Executive directors       

Dr M P 
Goldsworthy 452,117  – 76,157 13,129 19,641 1,099,074 1,660,118

Mr C D Wilks 85,500  –  – 7,695  – 549,537 642,732

      

Non executive 
directors      

Dr C S Goldschmidt 65,000  – – 5,850  – – 70,850

Mr B S Patterson 70,000  – – 6,300  – – 76,300

Mr R P Campbell 70,000  – – 6,300  – – 76,300

     

Other key 
management 
personnel      

B J Spillane 123,404  – 9,011 10,941 4,348 45,795 193,499

Company Secretary 
and Financial 
Controller      

total 866,021 – 85,168 50,215 23,989 1,694,406 2,719,799

 
The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows: 

Fixed remuneration At risk – StI At risk – ltI

name 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Executive directors     

Dr M P Goldsworthy 100.0% 33.8%  –  –  – 66.2%

Mr C D Wilks 100.0% 14.5%  –  –  – 85.5%

Other key  
management personnel     

B J Spillane 100.0% 76.3%  –  –  – 23.7%

There are no other senior managers/executives in the Group.
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c) Service Agreements

M P Goldsworthy 
Term of agreement – no expiry 
Package consisting of base salary, superannuation and motor vehicle reviewed by remuneration committee.

C D Wilks 
Term of agreement – reappointed a director for a further period of 3 years commencing 26 November 2008. 
Package consisting of directors fees, salary and superannuation. 
Salary details reviewed by remuneration committee.

B J Spillane 
Term of agreement – employed from 26 November 2001, no expiry 
Package consisting of base salary, superannuation and motor vehicle reviewed annually. 
Payment of a termination benefit on early termination by the Company equal to 1 months package.

d) Share-based compensation

Options
Options are granted under the Silex Systems Limited Employee Option Plan to other key management 
personnel. Full time and part time staff of the consolidated entity are eligible to participate in the plan. Options 
are granted under the plan for no consideration. Options are granted for a five year period and vest 100% 
after two years. Options are also granted to executive directors. These are subject to shareholder approval, 
are granted for a five year period and vest 100% after two years. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future 
reporting periods are as follows:
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Grant date expiry date
exercise  

price
Value per option 

at grant date date exercisable

22nd November 2005 21st November 2010 $1.77 $0.95 100% after  
22nd November 2007

22nd June 2006 21st June 2011 $3.60 $1.88 100% after  
22nd June 2008

9th March 2007 8th March 2012 $7.01 $3.26 100% after  
9th March 2009

22nd August 2007 21st August 2012 $6.79 $4.26 100% after  
22nd August 2009

24th December 2007 23rd December 2012 $5.81 $2.87 100% after  
23rd December 2009

15th July 2008 14th July 2013 $7.06 $3.82 100% after  
15th July 2010

7th October 2008 6th October 2013 $3.63 $1.96 100% after  
7th October 2010

28th November 2008 27th November 2013 $3.54 $1.81 100% after  
28th November 2010

5th December 2008 4th December 2013 $3.51 $1.86 100% after  
5th December 2010

31st March 2009 30th March 2014 $4.19 $2.28 100% after  
31st March 2011

29th June 2009 28th June 2014 $5.88 $3.20 100% after  
29th June 2011

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is 
convertible into one ordinary share. 

The exercise price of options is based on the weighted average price at which the Company’s shares are 
traded on the Australian Stock Exchange during the five days immediately before the options are granted, 
plus five cents.

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided to each director of Silex Systems Limited and 
each of the key management of the group are set out below. When exercisable, each option is converted into 
one ordinary share of Silex Systems Limited.

 
number of options  

granted during the year
number of options  

vested during the year

name 2009 2008 2009 2008

Directors of Silex Systems Limited  

Dr M P Goldsworthy –  –  –  1,200,000 

Mr C D Wilks – – – 600,000

Other key management personnel of the Group  

Mr B J Spillane – – – 50,000
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The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period 
from grant date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables. Fair values at grant 
date are independently determined using a Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility 
of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2009 included:

(a)  Options are granted for no consideration. 100% vests and are exercisable after two years of the  
date of grant

(b)  Exercise price $7.06, $3.63, $3.54, $3.51, $4.19 and $5.88 (2008: $6.79 and $5.81)

(c)  Grant date: 15 July 2008, 7 October 2008, 28 November 2008, 5 December 2008, 31 March 2009  
and 29 June 2009 (2008: 22 August 2007 and 24 December 2007)

(d)  Expiry date: 14 July 2013, 6 October 2013, 27 November 2013, 4 December 2013, 30 March 2014  
and 28 June 2014 (2008: 21 August 2012 and 23 December 2012)

(e)  Share price at grant date: $6.78, $3.54, $3.34, $3.45, $4.25 and $5.99 (2008: $8.13 and $5.65)

(f)  Expected volatility of the Company’s shares: 70% (2008: 50% and 60%)

(g)  Expected dividend yield: nil (2008: nil)

(h)  Risk-free interest rate: 7.5%, 6.25%, 5.5%, 4.5%, 3.5% and 3.25% (2008: 6.75% and 7.0%)

The minimum value of options issued during the year to directors and key management personnel is nil. 
The maximum value of options issued during the year to directors and key management personnel is nil.

Shares provided on exercise of remuneration options
Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to each 
director of Silex Systems Limited and other key management personnel of the Group are set out below:

 
number of ordinary shares issued on  
exercise of options during the year

name 2009 2008

Directors of Silex Systems Limited  

– – –

Other key management personnel of the Group

B J Spillane 25,000 135,000

The amounts paid per ordinary share by each director and other key management personnel on the exercise 
of options at the date of exercise were as follows:
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exercise date

Amount  
paid per  

share
number  

of shares exercise date

Amount  
paid per  

share
number  

of shares

9th July 2007 $0.85 10,000 9th July 2008 $0.85 10,000

26th July 2007 $0.85 10,000 31st July 2008 $0.85 5,000

10th August 2007 $0.85 20,000 8th September 2008 $0.85 5,000

30th August 2007 $0.85 50,000 29th October 2008 $0.85 5,000

19th September 2007 $0.85 20,000   

9th November 2007 $0.85 5,000   

4th February 2008 $0.85 10,000   

17th April 2008 $0.85 5,000   

25th June 2008 $0.85 5,000   

No amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on the exercise of options.

e) Additional information 

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration: relationship between remuneration  
and company performance

The overall level of executive reward takes into account the performance of the Group over a number of years, 
with greater emphasis given to the current and prior year.

Details of remuneration: cash bonuses and options
For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on pages 28 to 31, the percentage of the 
available bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested is set out below. The maximum value of options to  
vest is based on the value determined using the binomial model taking the value calculated as at grant date.

 cash bonus options

name
paid  

%
Forfeited 

%

Financial 
year 

granted
Vested  

%
Forfeited 

%

Financial 
years in 

which 
options 

may vest

minimum 
total value 

of grant 
yet to vest 

$

maximum 
total value 

of grant  
to vest $

Dr M P 
Goldsworthy  N/A  N/A 

Y/E 
30/6/2006  100  – N/A N/A N/A

Mr C D  
Wilks N/A N/A

Y/E 
30/6/2006  100  – N/A N/A N/A

Mr B J 
Spillane N/A  N/A 

Y/E 
30/6/2006 100  –  N/A  N/A  N/A 

Further details relating to options are set out overleaf:
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A 
remuneration 

consisting  
of options

B 
Value at  

grant  
date 

c 
Value at 
exercise  

date

d 
Value at  

lapse  
date 

e 
total of 

columns  
B-d 

name $  $ $ $

Dr M P Goldsworthy  –  –  N/A  –  – 

Mr C D Wilks –  – N/A  –  – 

Mr B J Spillane –  – 137,650 – 137,650

A =  The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options 
expensed during the current year.

B =  The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments of options granted 
during the year as part of remuneration.

C =  The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised 
during the year.

D =  The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the 
year.

Share options granted to directors and the most highly remunerated officers
No options over unissued ordinary shares of Silex Systems Limited were granted during or since the end 
of the financial year to directors or the most highly remunerated officers of the Company as part of their 
remuneration.

Where a part of the directors or executive’s remuneration consists of securities, the director or executive is not 
allowed to limit their exposure to risk in relation to the securities. Directors and executives with remuneration 
consisting of securities are required to provide an annual declaration of compliance with this policy. 

Other executives of the consolidated entity
There are no officers, other than Executive Directors and Executives noted above, involved in, concerned in, 
or taking part in, the management of the commercial affairs of Silex Systems Limited.

Performance of Silex Systems Limited

year ended 30 June epS StI Share price at 30 June

cents $ $

2005 (7.6)  – 1.11

2006 (7.6) 200,000 4.08

2007 6.4 460,000 12.49

2008 (6.5)  – 7.96

2009 (2.6)  – 6.00

The earnings per share in the current year improved from the prior year. The EPS in the current year was 
boosted by net foreign exchange gains. The current EPS is the second best over the last five years. The 
share price has increased significantly between when the agreement with General Electric was announced 
in May 2006 and 30 June 2007. During the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2009 the share market 
dropped considerably due to growing concerns over the deteriorating conditions in global financial and equity 
markets. Silex’s share price was not immune to the market fall. The share price has increased in the last 
5 years as progress has been made on the Company’s projects and increased interest in the Company has 
been	generated	in	the	market.	Progress	on	the	projects	has	not	directly	been	reflected	in	EPS	as	the	projects	
are still in the research and development phase and, apart from the Uranium Enrichment Project, are yet to 
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generate substantial revenue. Until 30 June 2005, earnings per share were calculated in accordance with 
Australian GAAP as opposed to Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
The STI’s in the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2007 are related to the progress made on the 
Uranium Enrichment Project and the signing of the deal with GE. 

11. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

a)  directors’ profiles

Mr Barry Patterson
ASMM, MIMM, FAICD 
Chairman – non executive

Experience and expertise
Mr Patterson has a corporate mining background, but in more recent years has held directorial positions  
in a number of both public and private companies. He is a major shareholder in Silex through his interest  
in Polly Pty Ltd. 

Other current directorships
Non-executive director of Sonic Healthcare Limited since 1993.  
Former directorships in last 3 years 
None.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Board 
Member of audit committee 
Chairman of remuneration committee

Dr Michael Goldsworthy
BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD, FAIP 
Managing Director/CEO – Executive

Experience and expertise
Dr Goldsworthy received his PhD in Physics from The University of New South Wales. Prior to starting with 
Silex Systems Limited in 1988, Dr Goldsworthy was a member of the University’s academic staff and was 
involved in a number of laser-associated research projects. Dr Goldsworthy is the founder of the Company 
and has been the driving force behind the SILEX uranium enrichment project, and the establishment of the 
consolidated entity’s extensive interests in solar, semiconductor and photonics technologies.

Other current directorships
None  

Former directorships in last 3 years
None

Special responsibilities
Managing Director

Mr Christopher Wilks
BComm, ASA, FCIS, FCIM, FAICD 
Director – executive

Experience and expertise
Mr Wilks has a background in chartered accounting and investment banking. He was previously a partner in a 
private investment bank and has held positions on the board of a number of public companies. Mr Wilks plays 
a role in the financial oversight and corporate development of Silex.
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Other current directorships
Executive director of Sonic Healthcare Limited since 1989. 

Former directorships in last 3 years
Non non-executive director of Independent Practitioner Network Limited between August 2005  
and October 2008 (Independent Practitioner Network Limited was delisted in October 2008).

Dr Colin Goldschmidt
MB BCh, FRCPA, FAICD 
Non-executive

Experience and expertise
Dr Goldschmidt is the CEO and Managing Director of Sonic Healthcare Limited. He was appointed  
to this role in 1993 and has overseen Sonic’s growth within Australia and its expansion into the UK,  
Europe and the USA. Experience in listed public company management, international business operations  
and healthcare and scientific markets.

Other current directorships
Managing Director of Sonic Healthcare Limited since 1993.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Non-executive director of Independent Practitioner Network Limited between August 2005 and October 2008 
(Independent Practitioner Network Limited was delisted in October 2008).

Special responsibilities
Member of audit committee

Mr Peter Campbell
FCA, FTIA, FAICD 
Non-executive

Experience and expertise
Mr Campbell is a Chartered Accountant with his own practice based in Sydney. He is a Fellow of both the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and the Taxation Institute of Australia and is a registered 
Company Auditor. 

Other current directorships
Non-executive director of Sonic Healthcare Limited since 1993 and non-executive director of QRxPharma 
Limited since April 2007.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Non-executive director of Admerex Limited from January 1997 to October 2008.

Special responsibilities
Chairman of audit committee 
Member of remuneration committee
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b) directors’ interests in shares and options as at the date of this report

director’s name class of shares no. of shares Share options

B S Patterson Ordinary 4,073,863 –

M P Goldsworthy Ordinary 5,849,533 1,200,000

C D Wilks Ordinary 2,794,021 600,000

C S Goldschmidt Ordinary 2,525,937 –

R P Campbell Ordinary 1,354,823 –

12. COMpANY SECRETARY

B J Spillane, B.Comm, CA was appointed to the position of company secretary in 2003. Mr Spillane has been 
Financial Controller of Silex since he joined the Company in 2001. Before joining Silex Systems Limited he was 
a Financial Accountant in the building products industry for ten years and prior to that an auditor for five years.

13. MEETINgS

The number of Directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings attended  
by each director are set out in the following table:

directors’  
meetings

Audit committee  
meetings

remuneration committee 
meetings

director’s  
name

number 
Held

number 
Attended

number 
Held

number 
Attended

number 
Held

number 
Attended

B S Patterson 9 8 2 2 1 1

M P Goldsworthy 9 9 – – – –

C D Wilks 9 9 – – – –

C S Goldschmidt 9 9 2 2 – –

R P Campbell 9 8 2 2 1 1

14. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS

The Company has entered into agreements to indemnify the Directors of the Company against all liabilities 
to persons (other than the Company or related body corporate) which arise out of the performance of their 
normal duties as Directors or Executive Officers unless the liability relates to conduct involving lack of good 
faith. The Company has agreed to indemnify the Directors and Executive Officers against all costs and 
expenses incurred in defending an action that falls within the scope of the indemnity. 

The Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses involved in 
defending legal actions and any resulting payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the Company) 
incurred in their position as a Director or Executive Officer unless the conduct involves a wilful breech of duty 
or an improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage. The insurance policy does not allow 
specific disclosure of the nature of the liabilities insured against or the premium paid under the policy. 
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15. ENvIRONMENTAL REgULATION

The Company is subject to the environmental and health and safety regulations applicable to tenants of the 
Lucas Heights Science and Technology Centre. The Company is also bound by the rules and regulations set 
out in the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Act, 1998, and is a licensee under the Act.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, all environmental and health and safety regulatory requirements have 
been met and there have been no claims made during the financial year.

16. NON-AUDIT SERvICES

The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 
where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the company and/or the consolidated entity are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit 
services provided during the year are set out below.

The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the audit 
committee is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 	All	non-audit	services	have	been	reviewed	by	the	audit	committee	to	ensure	they	do	not	impact	the	
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor

•	 	None	of	the	services	undermine	the	general	principles	relating	to	auditor	independence	as	set	out	
in Professional Statement F1, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a 
management or a decision-making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company  
or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent 
company, its related practices and non-related audit firms.
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  consolidated

2009 2008

$ $

remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided 
by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and non-audit firms:

(a) Assurance services

Audit services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under  
the Corporations Act 2001  101,148 118,425

Total remuneration for audit services  101,148  118,425 

Other assurance services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit of government grants  –  7,500 

Total remuneration for other assurance services  –  7,500 

Total remuneration for assurance services  101,148  125,925 

total remuneration  101,148  125,925 

17. AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

18. AUDITORS’ INDEpENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on page 40.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

  
dr m p Goldsworthy mr c d Wilks 
Managing Director Director

Sydney, 25 September 2009 
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 pricewaterhouseCoopers 
 AbN 52 780 433 757

 

 Darling Park Tower 2 
 201 Sussex Street 
 GPO BOX 2650 
 SYDNEY NSW 1171 
 DX 77 Sydney 
 Australia

 Telephone +61 2 8266 0000 
 Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999 
 www.pwc.com/au

AUDITORS’ INDEpENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of Silex Systems Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, I declare that to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation  
to the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Silex Systems Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

 
rod dring Sydney 
Partner 25 September 2009
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Silex Systems Limited (the Company) and the board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the 
highest standards of corporate governance. 

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. All these practices, 
unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.

pRINCIpLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAgEMENT AND OvERSIgHT

The directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and 
the longer term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group as a 
whole. Their focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the 
Group is properly managed.

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the board to the Managing Director and senior executives.

The board of directors is accountable to shareholders for the performance of the Group and is responsible for 
the corporate governance practices of the Group.

The board’s principal objective is to maintain and increase shareholder value while ensuring that the Group’s 
overall activities are properly managed.

Silex’s corporate governance practices provide the structure which enables the board’s principal objective 
to be achieved, whilst ensuring that the business and affairs of the group are conducted ethically and in 
accordance with the law.

The board’s overall responsibilities include:

•	 	providing	strategic	direction	and	approving	corporate	strategies;

•	 	monitoring	management	and	financial	performance	and	reporting;

•	 	monitoring	and	ensuring	the	maintenance	of	adequate	risk	management	controls	and	reporting	
mechanisms, and

•	 	ensuring	the	business	is	conducted	ethically	and	transparently.

•	 	The	board	delegates	responsibility	for	day-to-day	management	of	the	business	to	the	Managing	
Director. The Managing Director also oversees the implementation of strategies approved by the board. 
The board uses committees to support it in matters that require more intensive review and involvement. 
Details of the board committees are provided below.

As part of its commitment to good corporate governance, the board undertakes regular reviews of 
the practices and standards governing the board’s composition, independence and effectiveness, the 
accountability and compensation of directors and the board’s responsibility for the stewardship of the Group.

The Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the performance of executive directors and meets 
privately with each executive director to discuss this assessment. The managing director meets annually with 
non-director senior executives to discuss their performance. Feedback is also sought from other directors. 
These assessments and meetings took place during the year.
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pRINCIpLE 2: STRUCTURE THE bOARD TO ADD vALUE

The board is comprised of both executive and non-executive directors with a majority of non-executive 
directors. Non-executive directors bring a balanced perspective to the board’s consideration of strategic, 
risk and performance matters and are best placed to exercise independent judgement and review and 
constructively challenge the performance of management.

The Chairman is an independent non-executive director, the majority of the board are independent of 
management and all directors are required to bring independent judgement to bear in their board decision 
making. The Chairman is elected by the full board. 

The Company maintains a mix of directors on the board from different backgrounds with complementary  
skills and experience.

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

name Age position expertise

year 
Appointed 
director

Dr M P Goldsworthy 51 Managing Director/CEO Physicist and Co-inventor  
of the SILEX Technology

1992

Mr C D Wilks 51 Director Investment Banking,  
Finance and Company Management

1988

Dr C S Goldschmidt 55 Non-executive Director Company Management 1992

Mr B S Patterson 68 Non-executive  
Director/Chairman

Company Management 1992

Mr R P Campbell 64 Non-executive Director Finance and Accounting,  
Computing and Company Management

1996

All of Silex’s non-executive directors, including the Chairman, are considered independent. An independent 
director cannot be a substantial shareholder (as defined in section 9 of the Corporations Act 2001).  
The size and composition of the board is determined by the full board. 

directors’ independence

The board has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’ independence. These state that to be 
deemed independent, a director must be a non-executive and:

•	 	not	be	a	substantial	shareholder	of	the	Company	or	an	officer	of,	or	otherwise	associated	directly	with,	
a substantial shareholder of the Company

•	 	within	the	last	three	years,	not	have	been	employed	in	an	executive	capacity	by	the	Company	or	any	
other group member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment

•	 	within	the	last	three	years	not	have	been	a	principal	of	a	material	professional	adviser	or	a	material	
consultant to the Company or any other group member, or an employee materially associated with  
the service provided

•	 	not	be	a	material	supplier	or	customer	of	the	Company	or	any	other	group	member,	or	an	officer	 
of or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer

•	 	must	have	no	material	contractual	relationship	with	the	Company	or	a	controlled	entity	other	than	 
as a director of the Group
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•	 	be	free	from	any	interest	and	any	business	or	other	relationship	which	could,	or	could	reasonably	be	
perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the Company.

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and qualitative bases. In addition, a 
transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed material if knowledge of it may impact the shareholders’ 
understanding of the director’s performance.

term of office

The Company’s Articles of Association specifies that all directors other than the Managing Director must  
retire from office no later than the third annual general meeting (AGM) following their last election. Where 
eligible, a director may stand for re-election.

Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election each non-executive director is required to specifically 
acknowledge that they have and will continue to have the time available to discharge their responsibilities  
to the Company.

chairman and chief executive officer (ceo)

The Chairman is responsible for leading the board, ensuring directors are properly briefed in all matters 
relevant to their role and responsibilities, and facilitating board discussions. 

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company’s affairs, and for implementing  
Group strategies and policies as determined by the Board of Directors. 

Board meetings

The board meets formally at least 9 times a year to consider a broad range of matters, including progress 
with respect to the Company’s various development programs, strategy, financial reviews, acquisitions and 
investments. Details of meetings and attendances are set out in the Directors’ Report.

conflicts of interest of directors

The board has guidelines dealing with disclosure of interests by directors and participation and voting at board 
meetings where any such interests are discussed. In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, any director 
with a material personal interest in a matter being considered by the board does not receive the relevant board 
papers, must not be present when the matter is being considered, and may not vote on the matter.

Independent professional advice

Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Prior written approval of the Chairman is 
required, but this will not be unreasonably withheld.

All directors have access to Company records and information and receive detailed financial and operational 
reports from senior management during the year to enable them to carry out their duties. Directors also liaise 
with senior management as required, and may consult with other employees and seek additional information 
on request.
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performance assessment and remuneration

The board meets to undertake an annual self assessment of its collective performance, the performance of 
the Chairman and of its committees. This was performed in April 2009 and all deemed satisfactory. The board 
discusses a broad range of issues including the progress of the various research and development projects, 
the financial results, capital raisings, major deals negotiated and the share price. The board considers the 
appropriate mix of skills required by the board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution to the Group.

The Chairman undertakes an annual assessment of the performance of individual directors and meets 
privately with each director to discuss this assessment. The managing director meets annually with  
non-director senior executives to discuss their performance. Feedback is also sought from other directors.

The Directors’ report contains details of remuneration paid to directors and executives. Executive and  
non-executive directors’ fees are clearly separated in the Directors’ report.

Where bonuses are paid, details of the reason for the bonus are described. Options issued to executive 
directors are approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Additional information on performance evaluation and remuneration is provided in the Directors’ Report.

Board committees

The board has established a number of committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow 
detailed consideration of complex issues. Current committees of the board are the remuneration and audit 
committees. Each is comprised of a majority of non-executive directors. The committee structure and 
membership is reviewed on an annual basis. 

nomination committee

The Board has decided that it is in the Company’s best interest that the full Board deals with nomination 
issues. As a result a Nomination Committee has not been established.

pRINCIpLE 3: pROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESpONSIbLE DECISION MAkINg

code of conduct

The Company has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully endorsed by the board  
and applies to all directors and employees. 

In summary, the Code requires that at all times Company personnel act with the utmost integrity, objectivity 
and in compliance with the letter and the spirit of the law and company policies. 

A copy of the Code is available on the Company’s website.

Share trading policy

The Company has in place a formal share trading policy which places certain prohibitions on the trading of the 
Company’s shares. The policy is on the Company’s website. All Silex share dealings by directors are promptly 
notified to the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). All directors and employees are prohibited from buying and 
selling Silex shares at any time if they are aware of any material price sensitive information that has not been 
made available to the public. This however does not restrict directors and employees from exercising options 
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over unissued Silex shares. Trading of the subsequently issued shares is however subject to the prohibitions 
above. The Share trading policy is available on the Company’s website.

pRINCIpLE 4: SAFEgUARDINg INTEgRITY IN FINANCIAL REpORTINg

Audit committee

The audit committee consists of 3 non-executive independent directors as follows: 

R P Campbell (Chairman) 
C S Goldschmidt 
B S Patterson 

Details of these directors’ qualifications and attendance at audit committee meetings are set out in the 
directors’ report. 

The audit committee has appropriate financial expertise and all members are financially literate and have an 
appropriate understanding of the industries in which the Group operates.

The audit committee has its own written charter setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, structure, 
membership requirements and the manner in which the committee is to operate. The charter is reviewed on 
an annual basis and is available on the Company website. 

Minutes of committee meetings are tabled at the subsequent board meeting. 

The audit committee operates in accordance with a charter. The main responsibilities of the committee are to:

•	 	review,	assess	and	approve	the	financial	reports	and	all	other	financial	information	published	by	the	
Company or released to the market

•	 	assist	the	board	in	reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	the	organisation’s	internal	control	environment	covering: 
− effectiveness and efficiency of operations 
− reliability of financial reporting 
− compliance with applicable laws and regulations

•	 oversee	the	effective	operation	of	the	risk	management	framework

•	 	recommend	to	the	board	the	appointment,	removal	and	remuneration	of	the	external	auditors,	and	
review the terms of their engagement, the scope and quality of the audit and assess performance

•	 consider	the	independence	and	competence	of	the	external	auditor	on	an	ongoing	basis

•	 	review	and	approve	the	level	of	non-audit	services	provided	by	the	external	auditors	and	ensure	it	 
does not adversely impact on auditor independence

•	 review	and	monitor	related	party	transactions	and	assess	their	propriety

•	 report	to	the	board	on	matters	relevant	to	the	committee’s	role	and	responsibilities.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee receives regular reports from management and the external 
auditors. It also meets with the external auditors at least twice a year – more frequently if necessary, and 
reviews any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, irrespective of whether they 
have been resolved. The external auditors have a clear line of direct communication at any time to either  
the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the board. 

The audit committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires 
from any employee or external party.
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external auditors

The Company and audit committee policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality 
and independence. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender 
of external audit services are requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of 
performance, existing value and tender costs. It is PricewaterhouseCoopers policy to rotate audit engagement 
partners on listed companies at least every five years. 

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services,  
is provided in the directors’ report. It is the policy of the external auditors to provide annual declarations  
of their independence to the audit committee.

The external auditor is requested to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

pRINCIpLES 5 AND 6: MAkE TIMELY AND bALANCED  
DISCLOSURES AND RESpECT THE RIgHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

continuous disclosure and shareholder communication 

The Company has written policies and procedures on information disclosure that focus on continuous 
disclosure of any information concerning the Company and its subsidiaries that a reasonable person would 
expect to have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities. These policies and procedures also 
include the arrangements the Company has in place to promote effective communication with shareholders 
and encourage participation at general meetings. The Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy is available  
on the Company’s website.

The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the 
Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to 
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public.

Information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the Company’s web site as soon as it is disclosed to the  
ASX. Procedures have also been established for reviewing whether any price sensitive information has  
been inadvertently disclosed, and if so, this information is also immediately released to the market.

the role of shareholders

The Board of Directors aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting 
the group’s state of affairs. Information is communicated to shareholders as follows:

•	 	The	annual	report	is	distributed	to	all	shareholders	who	have	elected	to	receive	it	and	is	posted	on	the	
company’s website. The board ensures that the annual report includes relevant information about the 
operations of the group during the year, changes in the state of affairs of the group and details of likely 
future developments, in addition to the other disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001;

•	 	Proposed	major	changes	in	the	group	which	may	impact	on	share	ownership	rights	are	submitted	to	a	
vote of shareholders.

The board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level 
of accountability and identification with the group’s strategy and goals. Important issues are presented to the 
shareholders as single resolutions.

The shareholders are responsible for voting on the appointment of directors.

46 SIlex AnnuAl report 2009



CORpORATE gOvERNANCE STATEMENT

pRINCIpLE 7: RECOgNISE AND MANAgE RISk

The board, through the audit committee, is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to 
risk management, compliance and internal control systems. These policies, detailed in the audit committee 
charter are available on the Company website. In summary, the Company policies are designed to ensure 
strategic, operational, legal, reputation and financial risks are identified, assessed, effectively and efficiently 
managed and monitored to enable achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment. There is an organisation 
structure with clearly drawn lines of accountability and delegation of authority. Adherence to the Code of 
Conduct is required at all times and the board actively promotes a culture of quality and integrity. 

Detailed control procedures cover management accounting, financial reporting, project appraisal, environment, 
health and safety, IT security, compliance and other risk management issues. 

The Board requires management to design and implement the risk management and internal control system 
to manage the Company’s material business risks. The board discusses these policies at regular intervals. 
For example management provides details of cash deposits and intellectual property patenting on a regular 
basis for review. Management reports on the effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material 
business risks. 

The board requires that each major proposal submitted to the board for decision is accompanied by sufficient 
due diligence and risk review.

occupational Health and Safety (oH&S)

The Company recognises the importance of occupational health and safety (OH&S) issues and is committed 
to the highest levels of performance. To help meet this objective the OH&S Committee was established to 
facilitate the systematic identification of OH&S issues and to ensure they are managed in a structured and 
rigorous manner. This system has been operating for a number of years and allows the Company to:

•	 monitor	its	compliance	with	all	relevant	OH&S	legislation	and	regulations,

•	 continually	assess	and	improve	the	effectiveness	of	the	Company’s	OH&S	program,

•	 encourage	employees	to	actively	participate	in	the	management	of	all	OH&S	issues,	and

•	 reinforce	the	importance	of	safe	work	practices	throughout	the	Company,	as	mandated	by	management.

environmental regulation

As noted in the Directors’ report, the Company is subject to the environmental and health and safety 
regulations applicable to tenants of the Lucas Heights Science and Technology Centre. The Company is also 
bound by the rules and regulations set out in the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Act, 
1998, and is a licensee under that Act. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, all environmental regulatory 
requirements have been met. 
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corporate reporting

The Managing Director/CEO and Financial Controller have made the following certifications to the board:

•	 	that	the	Company’s	financial	reports	are	complete	and	present	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	all	material	
respects, of the financial condition and operational results of the Company and Group and are in 
accordance with relevant accounting standards

•	 	that	the	above	statement	is	founded	on	a	sound	system	of	risk	management	and	internal	control	and	
that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

pRINCIpLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESpONSIbLY

remuneration committee

The remuneration committee consists of the following non-executive directors: 

B S Patterson (Chairman) 
R P Campbell

Details of these directors’ attendance at remuneration committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report.

The remuneration committee advises the board on remuneration and incentive policies and practices 
generally, and makes specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment 
for executive directors, other senior executives and non-executive directors. Further information on directors’ 
and executives’ remuneration is set out in the directors’ report, which distinguishes non-executive directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive directors and senior executives.

The remuneration committee adopts policies that attract and maintain talented and motivated directors and 
employees so as to encourage enhanced performance.

Where a part of the directors or executive’s remuneration consists of securities, the director or executive  
is not allowed to enter into transactions in associated products which limit the economic risk of participation  
in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes. Annual declarations of compliance 
are obtained.

Further details of directors’ remuneration, superannuation and retirement payments are set out in the 
Directors’ Report.  

48 SIlex AnnuAl report 2009



SIlex SyStemS lImIted 

CONCISE  
FINANCIAL REpORT –  
30 JUNE 2009

Concise Financial Report

 Consolidated income statement 51

 Consolidated balance sheet 52

 Consolidated statement of  
 recognised income and expense  53

 Consolidated cash flow statement 54

 Notes to the consolidated  
 financial statements 55

 Directors’ declaration 59

Independent auditor’s report to the members 60

4949



RELATIONSHIp OF THE CONCISE FINANCIAL  
REpORT TO THE FULL FINANCIAL REpORT

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009.  
The financial statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived 
from the full financial report. 

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, 
financial position and financing and investing activities of Silex Systems Limited and its subsidiaries as the full 
financial report. Further financial information can be obtained from the full financial report. 

The full financial report and auditor’s report will be sent to members on request, free of charge.  
Please call 61 2 9532 1331 and request a copy of the full financial report (or email enquiries@silex.com.au). 
Alternatively, you can access both the full financial report and the concise report via the internet on  
our website: www.silex.com.au. 

CONCISE FINANCIAL REpORT 
30 June 2009
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notes 2009 2008

$ $

revenue from continuing operations 2 9,278,586 13,031,442

Other income – net foreign exchange gains 3(a) 2,755,897  – 

Other income – other 3(b)  – 273,935

Research and development materials (1,612,323) (6,193,038)

Finance costs (4,709) (8,663)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (1,049,864) (914,798)

Employee benefits expense (9,982,906) (10,714,929)

Professional fees (1,101,659) (1,002,922)

Printing, postage and stationery (62,321) (66,283)

Rent (384,208) (353,909)

Travelling expenses (657,161) (674,266)

Changes in inventories 39,918 12,019

Raw materials and stores used (43,238) (23,049)

Net foreign exchange losses  – (1,804,697)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (920,224) (808,997)

(loss) before income tax expense (3,744,212) (9,248,155)

Income tax expense (11,396)  – 

net (loss) (3,755,608) (9,248,155)

(Loss) is attributable to:

Equity holders of Silex Systems Limited (3,755,608) (9,248,155)

Minority interest  –  – 

(3,755,608) (9,248,155)

cents Cents

earnings per share for (loss) from continuing operations 
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company

Basic earnings per share (2.6) (6.5)

Diluted earnings per share (2.6) (6.5)

 
 
The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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CONSOLIDATED bALANCE SHEET 
As at 30 June 2009

30 June 2009 30 June 2008
$ $

ASSetS

current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 58,605,297 65,471,514

Trade and other receivables 2,051,870 2,743,879

Inventories 50,705 61,274

Total current assets 60,707,872 68,276,667

non-current assets

Receivables 33,276 35,009

Property, plant and equipment 8,435,711 1,913,415

Call option deeds  2,200,894  2,200,894 

Deferred tax assets  10,944  10,107 

Intangible assets 8,482,242 8,484,155

Total non-current assets 19,163,067 12,643,580

total assets 79,870,939 80,920,247

lIABIlItIeS

current liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,143,819 1,308,064

Borrowings  – 25,712

Current tax liabilities  11,396  – 

Provisions 517,247 440,347

Total current liabilities 1,672,462 1,774,123

non-current liabilities

Borrowings  –  72,499 

Provisions 185,133 180,819

Total non-current liabilities 185,133 253,318

total liabilities 1,857,595 2,027,441

net assets 78,013,344 78,892,806

eQuIty

Contributed equity 103,611,221 101,426,404

Reserves 7,250,013 6,558,684

Accumulated losses (32,847,890) (29,092,282)

Parent equity interest 78,013,344 78,892,806

Minority interest  –  – 

total equity 78,013,344 78,892,806

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
RECOgNISED INCOME AND ExpENSE 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

2009 2008

$ $

Exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled entity 297,172 (395,925)

net income recognised directly in equity 297,172 (395,925)

(Loss) for the year (3,755,608) (9,248,155)

total recognised income and expense for the year (3,458,436) (9,644,080)

Total recognised income and expense for the year is attributable to:

Members of Silex Systems Limited (3,458,436) (9,644,080)

Minority interest  –  – 

(3,458,436) (9,644,080)

 
The above consolidated statement of recognised income and expense should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOw STATEMENT 
For the year ended 30 June 2009

2009 2008

$ $

cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers  
(inclusive of goods and services tax)

 
7,353,237

 
9,642,240

Payments to suppliers and employees  
(inclusive of goods and services tax)

 
(14,243,202)

 
(16,278,654)

Interest received 3,373,213 2,704,245

Interest paid (4,709) (8,663)

Net	cash	(outflows)	from	operating	activities (3,521,461) (3,940,832)

cash flows from investing activities

Payment for additional interest in subsidiaries  – (145,470)

Payments for call options in subsidiary  – (890,374)

Loans to related parties  – (52,716)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (7,300,230) (788,987)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 63,636 17,727

Repayment of loans by related parties  34,534  185,539 

Net	cash	(outflows)	from	investing	activities (7,202,060) (1,674,281)

cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,240,904  50,377,452 

Repayment of hire purchase liabilities (98,211) (23,804)

Net	cash	inflows	from	financing	activities 1,142,693 50,353,648

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (9,580,828) 44,738,535

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 65,471,514 22,623,517

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 2,714,611 (1,890,538)

cash and cash equivalents at end of year 58,605,297 65,471,514

The	above	consolidated	cash	flow	statement	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	accompanying	notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2009

This concise financial report relates to the consolidated entity consisting of Silex Systems Limited and the 
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2009. The accounting policies have 
been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
note 1 presentation currency 
The presentation currency used in this concise financial report is Australian dollars. 

2009 2008

$ $

note 2 revenue

From continuing operations

Recoverable Project costs  6,146,593  9,624,501 

Interest income  3,126,693  3,223,552 

DARPA contract  –  163,031 

Other  5,300  20,358 

 9,278,586  13,031,442

note 3 other income 

(a) other income – net foreign exchange gains

Foreign currency exchange gains (net) 2,755,897 –

(b) other income – other

Government Grants – 261,364

Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment – 12,571

– 273,935

(i) Government grants

Commercial Ready grants of $nil (2008: $261,364) were recognised as other income by the Group during the 
financial year. There are no unfulfilled conditions attaching to these grants. The grant was received by ChronoLogic 
Pty Ltd and part of it may be repayable in certain circumstances. These include if a change in control of 
ChronoLogic occurs without Ausindustry’s consent; ChronoLogic wishes to commercialise the project other than 
as represented in its grant application; significantly additional aspects of the project would be commercialised in 
a country other than Australia, or overseas commercialisation would deliver significantly reduced national benefit 
when compared to the proposed commercialisation arrangements set out in the application; ChronoLogic 
becomes insolvent; or ChronoLogic breaches any warranty contained in the Agreement conditions. 

note 4 Segment information

Primary reporting-business segments  
The consolidated entity is organised into the following divisions by business type.

Laser enrichment 
Enrichment of uranium, silicon, carbon and oxygen by the “SILEX” laser isotope separation technology. 

Photonics and solar energy 
Manufacture and sale of solar cells and modules. Development of new silicon based materials and 
manufacturing technology for application to both the optical communications and mainstream computer chip 
industries; and development of high efficiency solar energy conversion materials. 

Test and measurement equipment
Development of novel electronics equipment for the Data acquisition and electronics instrumentation industries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2009 (continued)

 
year ended  
30/06/2009

 
laser 

enrichment
photonics and 

solar energy

test and 
measurement 

equipment

Inter segment 
eliminations/
unallocated

 
 

consolidated

$ $ $ $ $

Recoverable Project costs 6,146,593  –  –  – 6,146,593

Other  –  –  5,300  – 5,300

Total segment revenue 6,146,593  –  5,300  – 6,151,893

Unallocated –  
interest income

 
3,126,693

 
3,126,693

Total revenue 9,278,586

Segment result (827,791) (5,400,214) (1,840,718)  – (8,068,723)

Unallocated revenue  
and income less 
unallocated expenses

 
 

4,324,511

 
 

4,324,511

(Loss) before tax (3,744,212)

Income tax expense (11,396)

Net (loss) (3,755,608)

Segment assets 1,099,786 19,614,388 145,610 20,859,784

Unallocated assets 59,011,155 59,011,155

Total assets 79,870,939

Segment liabilities 1,198,417 222,795 172,801 – 1,594,013

Unallocated liabilities  263,582  263,582 

Total liabilities 1,857,595

Acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment, 
intangibles and other non-
current segment assets 189,150 6,972,289 53,881 84,910 7,300,230

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 37,803 971,186 37,061  3,814 1,049,864

Other non-cash expenses 55,477 (21,349) 76,224  – 110,352
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2009 (continued)

 
year ended  
30/06/2008

 
laser 

enrichment

photonics  
and solar 

energy

test and 
measurement 

equipment

Inter segment 
eliminations/ 
unallocated

 
 

consolidated

$ $ $ $ $

Recoverable Project costs 9,624,501  –  –  – 9,624,501

DARPA contract  –  163,031  –  – 163,031

Other 889  –  19,469  – 20,358

Total segment revenue 9,625,390  163,031  19,469  – 9,807,890

Unallocated –  
interest income

 
3,223,552

 
3,223,552

Total revenue 13,031,442

Segment result (3,134,724) (3,618,701) (1,184,323)  – (7,937,748)

Unallocated revenue and 
income less unallocated 
expenses

 
 

(1,310,407)

 
 

(1,310,407)

(Loss) before tax (9,248,155)

Income tax expense  – 

Net (loss) (9,248,155)

Segment assets 1,959,869 12,715,986 202,433 14,878,288

Unallocated assets 66,041,959 66,041,959

Total assets 80,920,247

Segment liabilities 1,319,769 164,281 177,450  – 1,661,500

Unallocated liabilities  365,941 365,941 

Total liabilities 2,027,441

Acquisition of property, 
plant and equipment, 
intangibles and other non-
current segment assets

 
 
 

21,236

 
 
 

3,055,856

 
 
 

67,008

 
 
 
–

 
 
 

3,144,100

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense

 
45,888

 
783,973

 
84,937

 
–

 
914,798

Other non-cash expenses 59,475 31,818 57,943  – 149,236
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2009 (continued)

note 5 dividends

No dividends were declared or paid during the year or in the prior year.

note 6 events occurring after reporting date

The directors are not aware of matters or circumstances which are not otherwise dealt with in the financial 
statements that have significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, 
the results of its operations or the state of the consolidated entity in subsequent years. 
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DIRECTORS’ REpORTDIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors declare that in their opinion, the concise financial report of the consolidated entity for the 
year ended 30 June 2009 as set out on pages 49 to 58 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039: 
Concise Financial Reports.

The concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009. 
The financial statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been derived 
from the full financial report.

The concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial 
performance, financial position and financing and investing activities of the consolidated entity as the 
full financial report, which is available on request.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

  
Dr M P Goldsworthy  
Managing Director

 
 
 

Mr C D Wilks 
Director  

Sydney, 25 September 2009
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT

 pricewaterhouseCoopers 
 AbN 52 780 433 757

 

 Darling Park Tower 2 
 201 Sussex Street 
 GPO BOX 2650 
 SYDNEY NSW 1171 
 DX 77 Sydney 
 Australia

 Telephone +61 2 8266 0000 
 Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999 
 www.pwc.com/au

REpORT ON THE CONCISE FINANCIAL REpORT

The accompanying concise financial report of Silex Systems Limited comprises the balance sheet as at 
30	June	2009,	the	income	statement,	statement	of	recognised	income	and	expense	and	cash	flow	statement	
for the year then ended and related notes, derived from the audited financial report of Silex Systems Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2009. The concise financial report does not contain all the disclosures required by 
the Australian Accounting Standards.

Directors’ responsibility for the concise financial report 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the concise financial report in accordance 
with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, and the Corporations Act 2001. This 
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation of the concise 
financial report; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise financial report based on our audit procedures. 
We have conducted an independent audit, in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, of the financial 
report of Silex Systems Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009. Our audit report on the financial report for 
the year was signed on 25 September 2009 and was not subject to any modification. The Australian Auditing 
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report for the year is free from 
material misstatement.

Our procedures in respect of the concise financial report included testing that the information in the concise 
financial report is derived from, and is consistent with, the financial report for the year, and examination on a 
test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures which were not directly derived from 
the financial report for the year. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in 
all material respects, the concise financial report complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise 
Financial Reports.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it contains 
any material inconsistencies with the concise financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or management.

INDEpENDENT AUDITOR’S REpORT TO THE 
MEMbERS OF SILEx SYSTEMS LIMITED

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for  
our audit opinions.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s opinion on the financial report

In our opinion, the concise financial report of Silex Systems Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009 
complies with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1039: Concise Financial Reports.

Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Silex Systems Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited concise financial report

This auditor’s report relates to the concise financial report and remuneration report of Silex Systems Limited 
(the company) for the year ended 30 June 2009 included on Silex Systems Limited web site. The company’s 
directors are responsible for the integrity of the Silex Systems Limited web site. We have not been engaged to 
report on the integrity of this web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report and remuneration 
report named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from these statements or the remuneration report. If users of this report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from electronic data communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the 
audited financial report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audited financial 
report and remuneration report presented on this web site.

pricewaterhousecoopers

 
rod dring Sydney 
Partner 25 September 2009

INDEpENDENT AUDITOR’S REpORT TO THE 
MEMbERS OF SILEx SYSTEMS LIMITED (continued)

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT

1. INFORMATION RELATINg TO SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 22 SEpTEMbER 2009

a. distribution schedule

1-1,000 2,770

1,001-5,000 2,720

5,001-10,000 724

10,001-100,000 720

100,001 and over 93

Total number of holders of each class of security 7,027

Voting rights – on a show of hands

  – on a poll

Percentage of total holding held by the largest 20 holders 67.20%

Number of total holding less than a marketable parcel of shares 108

Substantial shareholders Ordinary shares

Jardvan Pty Ltd 32,674,095

The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation 10,485,329

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT

b. names of twenty largest Holders of each Security as at 22 September 2009

 
name

number of 
securities

percentage  
held

Jardvan Pty Ltd 32,674,095 22.37%

National Nominees Limited 16,882,178 11.56%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 6,942,683 4.75%

ANZ Nominees Limited 6,418,163 4.39%

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 6,163,298 4.22%

Majenta Holdings Pty Ltd 5,703,923 3.91%

Polly Pty Ltd 4,073,863 2.79%

Throvena Pty Ltd 2,978,203 2.04%

Hamlac Pty Ltd 2,525,937 1.73%

Mr Christopher David Wilks 2,405,070 1.65%

Quintal Pty Ltd 2,000,000 1.37%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/c 3 1,981,056 1.36%

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,911,821 1.31%

Mithena Holdings Pty Ltd 1,139,823 0.78%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/c 2 1,024,076 0.70%

Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 896,694 0.61%

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited 712,663 0.49%

Cogent Nominees Pty Ltd <SMP accounts> 598,454 0.41%

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 555,351 0.38%

LYC Corporation Pty Ltd 546,010 0.37%

98,133,361 67.20%

2. vENDOR SECURITIES AS AT 22 SEpTEMbER 2009

There are no vendor securities. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
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DIRECTORS’ REpORT

3. INTEREST OF DIRECTORS IN SECURITIES AS AT 22 SEpTEMbER 2009

ordinary shares Interest held

Mr B S Patterson 4,073,863 Beneficially

Dr M P Goldsworthy 5,849,533 Personally/Beneficially

Mr C D Wilks 2,794,021 Personally/Beneficially

Dr C S Goldschmidt 2,525,937 Beneficially

Mr R P Campbell 1,354,823 Beneficially

4. SECURITIES SUbJECT TO vOLUNTARY ESCROw AS AT 22 SEpTEMbER 2009

number  
on issue

date escrow  
period ends

As at 22 September 2009 the following securities  
were subject to voluntary escrow: 

Ordinary shares 10,000 1 August 2010

5. UNqUOTED EqUITY SECURITIES AS AT 22 SEpTEMbER 2009

number  
on issue

number  
of holders

Options issued under the Silex Systems Limited  
Employee Share Option Plan to take up ordinary shares 2,440,500 51

Other options issued to take up ordinary shares * 1,800,000 2

* These options are held by directors Dr M P Goldsworthy and Mr C D Wilks.

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION
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Stock	Exchange

Listed on the Australian Stock Exchange

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Solicitors

Australia: Baker & McKenzie and Minter Ellison Lawyers 
u.S.A: Paul Hastings LLP

Bankers

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

American Depository Receipts (ADR) information

Silex Systems Limited has established a Level 1 ADR 
Program. Silex ADRs may be purchased on the Over-
the-Counter “Pink Sheet” (OTC) market.

Details are as follows: 
Ratio: 1 ADR = 5 ordinary shares 
Symbol: SILXY 
CUSIP: 827046 10 3 
Exchange: OTC 
Country: Australia

Directors

Mr B S Patterson – Chairman 
Dr M P Goldsworthy – Managing Director/CEO 
Mr C D Wilks 
Dr C S Goldschmidt  
Mr R P Campbell

Remuneration Committee

Mr B S Patterson – Chairman 
Mr R P Campbell

Audit Committee

Mr R P Campbell – Chairman 
Dr C S Goldschmidt 
Mr B S Patterson

Company Secretary

Mr B J Spillane

COMPANY DIRECTORY

Registered office and principal place of business

Building 64, Lucas Heights  
Science & Technology Centre 
New Illawarra Road, Lucas Heights,  
New South Wales 2234, Australia

ph: +61 2 9532 1331  
Fax:	+61 2 9532 1332 
postal address: PO Box 75,  
Menai Central, New South Wales 2234 
 
Website address 

www.silex.com.au

Share Registry

Computershare Registry Services Pty Limited 
Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street, Adelaide,  
South Australia 5000, Australia 
GPO Box 1903 Adelaide SA 5001, Australia

enquiries within Australia: 1300 556 161 
enquiries outside Australia: +61 3 9415 4000 
email: web.queries@computershare.com.au 
Website: www.computershare.com.au
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